IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 25-\_\_\_\_\_

SCA EFiled: May 16 2025  
04:26PM EDT  
Transaction ID 76290638

(Public Service Commission of West Virginia Case No. 23-0807-W-C)

BECKLEY WATER COMPANY

*Petitioner,*

v.

**PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA and  
CITY OF MOUNT HOPE**

*Respondents.*

---

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

Todd M. Swanson (WVSB #10509)  
Devon J. Stewart (WVSB #11712)  
Christopher G. Robinson (WVSB #14290)  
STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC  
P.O. Box 1588  
Charleston, West Virginia 25326  
(304) 353-8000  
todd.swanson@steptoe-johnson.com  
devon.stewart@steptoe-johnson.com  
chris.robinson@steptoe-johnson.com

## **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Because Mount Hope failed to file exceptions or timely appeal the underlying decision, the Public Service Commission exceeded its statutory authority to consider only the enforcement remedy sought in BWC’s Petition to Reopen, and instead improperly reconsidered the underlying decision that Appalachian Heights was within Beckley Water Company’s (“BWC’s”) exclusive water service territory.
2. The Commission erred as a matter of law in its reconsideration of BWC’s exclusive territory by examining whether the City of Mount Hope (“Mount Hope”) is “willing and able to serve” the service territory at issue, instead of applying precedent that the Commission must examine the facilities as they “currently exist,” and where a service territory more than one mile away is too far to be gray and overlapping.
3. The Commission erred as a matter of law by considering Mount Hope’s annexation of the area at issue as a factor for whether the water service territory was gray and overlapping between BWC and Mount Hope’s service territories.
4. Finally, the Commission erred in concluding that the area at issue would have been in a gray and overlapping territory even before Mount Hope’s annexation because municipal authority to construct extraterritorial waterworks generally are limited to one mile in distance, and Mount Hope’s facilities are 2.5 miles away.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. BWC's facilities serving customers around the Site in Raleigh County.**

BWC is a privately owned public utility company engaged in the business of providing water service subject to the provisions of Chapter 24 of the Code of West Virginia, and subject to regulation by the West Virginia Public Service Commission (“Commission”).<sup>1</sup> BWC provides direct service to approximately 22,500 customers in Raleigh and Fayette Counties, West Virginia, and resale service to four water utilities, with two water treatment plants, thirteen storage tanks, and a workforce of approximately two hundred sixty-five employees for an overall service capacity of 14 million gallons daily.<sup>2</sup>

BWC serves multiple Raleigh County customers near an undeveloped property of approximately 108 acres located between Bradley, West Virginia and the Crossroads Mall, known as Appalachian Heights (the “Site”).<sup>3</sup> U.S. Route 19 divides the Site into a north and south side, with the northern section accessible from Appalachian Heights Road and the southern section via Cross Roads Drive.<sup>4</sup> BWC’s current customers around the Site include a Buffalo Wild Wings, Crossroads Chevrolet, and Anderson Equipment along Cross Road Drive, served by a twelve inch mainline bordering the Site south of Route 19 along Cross Road Drive.<sup>5</sup> BWC also has a four inch line in the area along Appalachian Heights Road abutting the Site north of Route 19, which can be seen on a map of BWC’s service area portraying service lines on three sides of the Site.<sup>6</sup> These

---

1 A.R. 409.

2 A.R. 208, 223–24, 409.

3 A.R. 202–203, 224, 409.

4 A.R. 410.

5 A.R. 207–209, 226.

6 A.R. 204, 209, 214, 287, 414.

facilities are serviced by a nearby tank labeled “Prosperity Tank” approximately one mile from the Site.<sup>7</sup> No other water utility has customers in the vicinity of the Site.<sup>8</sup>

BWC has excess capacity of approximately two and one-half million gallons per day and is capable of delivering approximately six hundred gallons per minute at 50psi to the Site.<sup>9</sup> Because of BWC’s service capacity, BWC’s superintendent Lewis Edmund Wooten has received calls and inquiries about obtaining water service for the Site since early 2000, including inquiries from Bill Dugger, James Walkman, Bob Rosnowski, and Jeff Williams.<sup>10</sup> Indeed, a New River Gorge Regional Development Authority (“NRGRDA”) brochure for Appalachian Heights clearly identifies “Beckley Water Company” as the water provider to the Site.<sup>11</sup>

It is thus common knowledge that BWC is positioned to provide water service to the Site.<sup>12</sup> And while BWC has been able meet all capacity requirements for potential water service inquires, BWC is also in a position to upgrade its system to provide an additional one and one-half million gallons per day simply by upgrading its lines, according to estimates from Croy Engineering, or up to eight million gallons per day with upgrades to its treatment plants.<sup>13</sup>

The most recent inquiry for water service came in 2022 by correspondence from E. L. Robinson Engineering, for which BWC provided an estimate along with correspondence to the Secretary of the West Virginia Department of Economic Development indicating that the Site was

---

7 A.R. 224.

8 A.R. 204, 208–209, 249.

9 A.R. 209, 227–28, 409.

10 A.R. 204, 209, 228–29.

11 A.R. 416.

12 A.R. 410.

13 A.R. 204, 209, 229.

within BWC's service territory.<sup>14</sup> BWC received no response.<sup>15</sup> BWC also reached out to the NRGDRA indicating a desire and capacity to serve the Site and requesting additional information to develop a cost estimate.<sup>16</sup> The NRGDRA has not identified a specific customer or provided any information about who might be developing the property or what their needs are for water service,<sup>17</sup> but BWC believes the developer will require high volumes of water.<sup>18</sup>

## **II. Mount Hope's facilities 2.5 miles from the Site in Fayette County.**

Mount Hope is a municipal corporation under West Virginia Code Chapter 8, which also provides waterworks as a public utility subject to regulation by the Commission.<sup>19</sup> As a municipal corporation operating waterworks, Mount Hope provides water service to customers within its municipal boundaries and, by statute, up to but not to exceed *one mile* in distance from its nearest boundaries.<sup>20</sup> The Site, however, is *two and one-half miles* away from the nearest existing Mount Hope water lines.<sup>21</sup>

## **III. Mount Hope's “Appalachian Heights Water Extension” project.**

Despite Mount Hope's two and one-half mile distance from the Site, and BWC's abutment with capacity, on April 18, 2023, Mount Hope Mayor Mike Kessinger reported to the Fayette

---

14 A.R. 205, 209, 290–91.

15 A.R. 210, 233, 292.

16 A.R. 233–34.

17 A.R. 234.

18 A.R. 235.

19 W. VA. CODE §§ 8-12-5(31) (2023), 8-19-1(a) (1990).

20 W. VA. CODE § 8-12-19 (2023) (“[T]he powers and authority of the municipality shall extend beyond the corporate limits to the extent necessary to the reasonably efficient exercise of such powers and authority within the corporate limits. **Such powers and authority, unless otherwise provided in this code or elsewhere in law, shall not, however, extend more than one mile beyond the corporate limits**, and such powers and authority shall not extend into the corporate limits of another municipality without the consent of the governing body thereof.”) (emphasis added).

21 A.R. 205, 209, 231.

County Commission on what was described as the “Appalachian Heights Water Extension” project.<sup>22</sup> Mr. Kessinger explained that Mount Hope had received \$2 million from the West Virginia Legislature, \$2 million from Raleigh County, a developer contribution of \$250,000, and required an additional \$250,000 from the Fayette County Commission because Mount Hope has “explored and exhausted all other funding avenues for this project which will secure the utility.”<sup>23</sup> Mr. Kessinger also agreed with Fayette County Commissioner Taylor that the project may encourage development on Route 19 by a rate decrease, offsetting costs to the customers.<sup>24</sup>

Due to Mount Hope’s efforts to secure project funding at the Site, BWC filed a Complaint with the Commission alleging that Mount Hope has violated the laws of the State of West Virginia and rules of the Commission by pursuing a water project that will encroach on BWC’s exclusive service territory.<sup>25</sup> BWC requested an order that Mount Hope cease and desist from planning and/or constructing a project that involves providing water service to the Site.<sup>26</sup>

Mount Hope filed an answer admitting that it is planning a proposed project, adding that it would provide water to the Raleigh County Public Service District (“RCPSD”) for resale to RCPSD customers.<sup>27</sup> The nearest RCPSD water line, however, is even further from the Site than Mount Hope’s—5.9 miles.<sup>28</sup> Moreover, BWC’s service area map shows that any water line

---

22 A.R. 295.

23 *Id.*

24 *Id.*; A.R. 210.

25 A.R. 411.

26 *Id.*

27 A.R. 404.

28 A.R. 209, 231.

constructed without a cross from the south to north of Route 19 would require the line to cross BWC’s existing lines in order to service the Site.<sup>29</sup>

The Commission referred the matter to Chief Administrative Law Judge Keith A. George (“Chief ALJ”) for decision, upon which the Chief ALJ held a hearing on March 4, 2024.<sup>30</sup> BWC presented witness testimony from BWC superintendent Wooten and introduced eight exhibits.<sup>31</sup> The Commission Legal Staff (“Staff”) argued that the requested remedy was premature because there is not a customer of record ready to take service. However, the Staff’s witness Lisa Bailey, a Technical Analyst for the Commission’s Engineering Division, agreed that the Commission does not allow utility-on-utility competition.<sup>32</sup>

Mount Hope did not call any witnesses or introduce evidence at the hearing.<sup>33</sup>

#### **IV. Chief ALJ’s Recommended Decision in BWC’s Favor and Mount Hope’s Failure to File Exceptions.**

Based on twenty-four findings of fact, the Chief ALJ, issued a recommended decision on April 19, 2024 (“Recommended Decision”) finding that the Site is in the exclusive territory of BWC.<sup>34</sup> Although concluding it was “premature to issue a cease and desist order,”<sup>35</sup> the Recommended Decision found that the Site was BWC’s exclusive territory because,

It has long been an important task for the Public Service Commission to help direct the orderly development of utility infrastructure in West Virginia to prevent duplicative facilities that may increase overall costs to customers and taxpayers. W.Va. Code §24-1-1(a)(3). It makes little economic sense to invest in expensive

---

29 A.R. 230.

30 A.R. 216.

31 A.R. 216–84, 285-346.

32 A.R. 206, 258.

33 A.R. 206, 208, 250.

34 A.R. 210.

35 *Id.*

water pipes that parallel identical water pipes from an alternative provider.<sup>36</sup>

While the Commission has allowed customer choice in very limited and “rare” circumstances where there is a gray and overlapping service territory, the Recommended Decision concludes that “[t]he facts in this case are not indicative of gray and overlapping service territory,” due to the two and 2.5-mile distance from Mount Hope’s facilities, 5.9-mile distance from RCPSD’s facilities, and BWC’s lines that “spaghetti around the parcel” with “excess capacity to provide at least two-and-a-half million gallons a day without any modification to the plants by merely modifying certain line sizes.”<sup>37</sup>

The Recommended Decision further finds that Mount Hope engaged in mapping its system, “which is indicative of a project being underway,” and that “the project is more concrete than Mount Hope would have the Commission believe.”<sup>38</sup> Thus, the Recommended Decision observes that “[i]t seems odd to suggest that the Commission ignore the matter until after facilities are constructed and then determine that the service area is gray and overlapping or to then require that an expensive new project not be actually utilized to serve the Appalachian Heights site.”<sup>39</sup>

Mount Hope did not file exceptions to the Recommended Decision. Thus, it became “Final” on May 9, 2024.<sup>40</sup>

---

36 A.R. 206.

37 A.R. 207.

38 *Id.*

39 A.R. 208.

40 A.R. 202; W. VA. CODE § 24-1-9(g) (“When no exceptions are filed within the time specified, the recommended order shall become the order of the commission five days following the expiration of the period for filing exceptions”); W. VA. CODE ST. R. § 150-1-19.1 (2019) (deadline of fifteen (15) days for the date of a recommended decision to file exceptions).

## **V. Petition to Reopen Due to Mount Hope’s Annexation of the Site.**

The day after the Recommended Decision became final, the *Register-Herald* ran a front-page article detailing a new proposal for Mount Hope to “annex” the Site, to be taken up at a Raleigh County Commission at a public hearing on May 21, 2024 for public comment. In the article, the Executive Director of the NRGDRA, was quoted saying, “The goal of the annexation of the property is it will now be within Mount Hope’s municipal boundaries, *so Mount Hope will be the water provider for an industrial tenant.*”<sup>41</sup>

All parties agree that on June 18, 2024, Mount Hope followed through and annexed the Site via a minor boundary adjustment—gerrymandering territory tracing Route 19 South to Raleigh County to join the Site to Mount Hope’s existing city limits in Fayette County.<sup>42</sup> By statute, a municipality may increase its corporate limits by “a minor boundary adjustment” by application to the county commission of the county wherein the municipality is located.<sup>43</sup> The statute does not, however, provide that territories subject to annexation give the municipality superseding rights to a *private* utility company’s exclusive service territory.

While West Virginia law does grant municipalities superior rights to serve unserved territory within their municipal boundaries over public service districts, the statute’s requirements for *public service districts* do not apply to *private utility companies*.<sup>44</sup> And to be clear, BWC is

---

41 A.R. 199–200 (emphasis added).

42 A.R. 74.

43 W. VA. CODE § 8-6-5(a) (2021).

44 W. VA. CODE § 16-13A-8 (2017). Indeed, as explained below, municipalities are specifically prohibited from acquiring property to construct utilities in competition with private utility companies. *See* W. VA. CODE § 8-19-3 (1990).

not a public service district subject to laws governing the relationship between a municipality and a public service district.<sup>45</sup>

Based on Mount Hope’s proposal to annex the Site and media statements concerning plans to extend water service, BWC filed a Petition to Reopen on May 15, 2024, asking the Commission to order Mount Hope to cease and desist from planning and/or constructing a project to provide water service to the Site.<sup>46</sup>

BWC contends that the Commission’s errors commenced with its September 25, 2024 “Commission Order” of referral of BWC’s petition to the Chief ALJ.<sup>47</sup> The Commission directed the Chief ALJ to “rule on which entity has superior service rights pursuant to W. Va. Code § 16-13A-8.”<sup>48</sup> In BWC’s Response to the October 23, 2024 Procedural Order, BWC noted that “[s]ince BWC and the City are not public service districts, W. Va. Code § 16-13A-8 has no bearing on this dispute.”<sup>49</sup>

Upon referral, the Chief ALJ again agreed with BWC, noting that

[t]he City now argues that the annexation reverses the Commission’s determination that the Site was the exclusive service territory of BWC. The City relies on a misreading of W. Va. Code §16-13A-8, which grants municipalities superior rights to serve unserved territory within their municipal boundaries over Public Service Districts. However, BWC is not a Public Service District. It is a for-profit utility. . . . If the Legislature intended to give superior rights to a municipal utility over private utilities, it could have done so. It has not done so. The City has no ability to prevent

---

45 By contrast to private utility companies, public service districts are political subdivisions created by counties commission. W. VA. CODE §§ 16-13A-2, -3 (2005).

46 A.R. 197.

47 A.R. 158–61.

48 A.R. 160.

49 A.R. 89.

BWC from serving customers within BWC’s exclusive service territory in or out of the City’s municipal boundaries.<sup>50</sup>

Based on the new evidence presented concerning Mount Hope’s development project, the Chief ALJ recommended a cessation order to prohibit Mount Hope from serving the Site with water service or providing bulk water to any entity for the purpose of serving the Site.<sup>51</sup>

## **VI. Mount Hope’s Exceptions and the Commission Orders at Issue.**

This time, Mount Hope filed timely exceptions, arguing for the first time that “[t]he Site is not within the ‘exclusive service territory’ of BWC but is in a ‘gray and overlapping’ service territory.”<sup>52</sup>

BWC responded that Mount Hope failed to file timely exceptions to the original Recommended Decision finding that the Site was within BWC’s exclusive territory, noting, “[t]he City had ample opportunity to present evidence at the March 4, 2024, evidentiary hearing of its ability to provide water service to the Site but chose not to present a witness,” and further that Chief ALJ’s Recommended Decision correctly reasoned that annexation has no legal significance for a territory dispute with a private utility company.<sup>53</sup>

Staff also filed a reply to Mount Hope’s exceptions agreeing that the Site does not present a gray and overlapping territory and recommending the Commission affirm the Chief ALJ’s Recommended Decision.<sup>54</sup>

Despite the Chief ALJ’s recommendations, and contrary to the arguments of Staff and BWC, the Commission reached the “rare” conclusion that the Site is in a gray and overlapping

---

50 A.R. 76.

51 A.R. 78.

52 A.R. 68.

53 A.R. 43–44.

54 A.R. 39.

service territory in its February 20, 2025, Order, granting Mount Hope’s exceptions and declining to adopt the Chief ALJ’s decision.<sup>55</sup> The Commission reasoned that it had authority to consider Mount Hope’s annexation of the Site as a “factor” in the gray and overlapping territory analysis, but that even “[b]efore annexation, the area could have been considered gray and overlapping because a municipality has statutory authority to serve outside its municipal limits.”<sup>56</sup>

BWC filed a Petition for Reconsideration, highlighting facts that were presented to the Chief ALJ at the hearing, discussing additional authority from the Commission’s prior decisions, noting that there is not a new customer to serve at the Site, and arguing that the order diminishes the authority of the Commission to determine utility service territories by allowing municipalities to resolve disputes by annexation.<sup>57</sup>

The Commission then issued a further Commission Order on April 16, 2025, which is the order at issue in this Petition (“Order”).<sup>58</sup> In it, the Commission dismissed BWC’s arguments, reasoning that the Site is a gray and overlapping service territory because “the Commission does not regard two-and-a-half miles as too far a distance to extend lines to serve the Site under the isolation test, particularly when both utilities have asserted an ability and readiness to extend service. It is clear from the evidence and filings in this case that BWC and Mount Hope are willing and able to serve the Site.”<sup>59</sup> The Commission also concluded that “[w]hether there is currently a

---

55 A.R. 39.

56 A.R. 35.

57 A.R. 20–26.

58 A.R. 5–11.

59 A.R. 6–7.

customer at the Site is not a deciding factor,”<sup>60</sup> and that “annexation was a factor to be considered in the analysis, but was not a determinative factor.”<sup>61</sup>

BWC respectfully disagrees that the Commission had jurisdiction to reconsider its earlier decision that the Site was within BWC’s exclusive territory without a timely appeal. Mount Hope failed to file exceptions. The sole question presented upon BWC’s Petition to Reopen was whether Mount Hope’s annexation presented a new basis for a cessation order. Instead, the Commission reconsidered its prior ruling on BWC’s exclusivity without jurisdiction to do so, applied the wrong standard, ignored its own legal precedent, and arrived at conclusions that were not based on substantial evidence. The Commission erred by reconsidering BWC’s exclusive territory when exceptions were not timely filed, by concluding that annexation was a factor it could consider to determine if the territory was gray and overlapping, and by concluding that the territory would have been gray and overlapping even without annexation—ignoring West Virginia law that imposes an extraterritorial limit of one mile for constructing municipal water facilities.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

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