Docket No. 25-315

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jan 14 2026

03:26PM EST

Transaction ID 78209292

Beckley Water Company,
Petitioner,

v.

The Public Service Commission of West Virginia
and City of Mount Hope Water Department,
Respondents.

STATEMENT OF RESPONDENT
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA OF ITS
REASONS FOR THE ENTRY OF ITS ORDER OF APRIL 16, 2025 IN
CASE NO. 23-0807-W-C

Jordan Martin Blatt, Esq. (WVSB #12773)
Robert M. Adkins, Esq. (WVSB #79)
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA
201 Brooks Street
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 340-0300 - main
(304) 340-0840 - facsimile
jmartin@psc.state.wv.us
radkins@psc.state.wv.us

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

In support of its position that BWC has the exclusive rights to serve the Site because its facilities are closer in proximity to the Site, Petitioner emphasized the Commission's statement in HREA 2005, the key to resolving territorial disputes between utilities is examining the location of each utility's facilities "as those facilities currently exist." HREA 2005, PSC Case No. 03-0915-

⁶ Electric extension cases involving extension of overhead lines along limited public rights of way are significantly different from the standpoint of orderly development and engineering issues than buried water lines.

E-C at 7. The Commission's statement in HREA 2005, however, went beyond this Court's consideration of the location of facilities in HREA v. PSC, where this Court stated "we agree with the PSC that the key to resolving *the present disputes* is the utilities' facilities as they exist now and not an antiquated map." 190 W.Va. at 444, 438 S.E.2d at 787 (emphasis added). The Commission, did not intend to establish the location of the utilities' facilities as the determinative factor for every territorial dispute proceeding. Additionally, the Commission's consideration of a utility's facilities as they currently exist does not mean that a utility must serve a new customer without any new construction. With respect to the isolation test, the Commission must look at a utility's facilities as they currently exist and determine if a new customer must be served by the utility under the Commission rules, even if a line extension is required, as it most always is. In the historical gray and overlapping cases, no customer could be served by only existing facilities. The starting point, however, for the isolation test is where the current facilities can be appended to new facilities to get to the new customer. In this case, the Commission determined that, as Mount Hope's facilities currently exist, a 2.5-mile extension is not so extreme as to conclude that Mount Hope is not required to serve a new customer in the area in question.

The case at hand can also be distinguished from HREA v. Mon Power, Case No. 96-0747-E-C, Comm'n Order Sept. 18, 1997, because of the unique circumstances of this case including the significant funding, the extension of municipal water service, and the annexation. Petitioner argues that the Commission ignored its decision in HREA v. Mon Power that a one-mile proximity was too far to create a gray and overlapping service area in a case involving the extension of electrical service. Petitioner's Brief at 28; CR at BN 36. The decision in HREA v. Mon Power was specific to the circumstances in that case and involved the extension of overhead power lines, not buried water lines. Moreover, the Commission has recently approved an alternate mainline water

agreement for a mainline extension of 13,750 feet, or approximately 2.6 miles in the Eastern Panhandle. Charles Town Utility Board, Case No. 24-0720-W-PC, Comm'n Order Oct. 15, 2024. This is just one example of a longer mainline extension that the Commission has approved, which clearly demonstrates that 2.5 miles is not too far a distance to extend water lines, when economically feasible.

While prior gray and overlapping cases provide guidance to the Commission, the Commission has the flexibility and authority to depart from those cases in necessary circumstances. This Court has recognized that the doctrine of *stare decisis* does not normally apply to administrative decisions. The Commission is not bound by its previous decisions and “must at all times be free to take such steps as may be proper in the circumstances, irrespective of the past decisions.” Chesapeake & Potomac Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 300 S.E.2d 607, 614 (1982 W. Va.) (citations omitted).

As the Commission has made clear in its Orders in this case and in this Statement of Reasons, there are important factors to consider in the present case in addition to the location of the utilities’ facilities. The Commission is not bound by its prior gray and overlapping territory determinations because each territory dispute must be decided on a case by case basis.

4. The Commission Properly Considered BWC’s and Mount Hope’s Willingness and Ability to Provide Water Service to the Site.

When the instant dispute arose, the ALJ found the Site to be in BWC’s exclusive territory based on its facilities’ proximity to the Site. In the reopened case, the Commission took additional factors into consideration, including the competing utilities’ “ability and readiness to extend service.” Comm'n Order, April 16, 2025 at 3; CR at BN 59. The Commission did not, however, establish ability and readiness to extend service as solely determinative of a gray and overlapping service territory. Likewise, the Commission did not intend willingness to serve to be the factor that

establishes a gray and overlapping service area in this or any future service territory dispute matters. Indeed, a utility may be unwilling to serve a new customer, but that would not relieve it of its public utility obligation to serve new customers. The Commission allows utilities to escape uneconomic line extensions to serve new customers by requiring customer contributions to pay for uneconomic line extensions. However, if line extensions are made economical either through alternative low cost or zero-cost financing, alternative line extension agreements funded by the new customers or customer contributions-in-aid-of-construction, the obligation to serve is paramount. When two or more utilities can economically serve, the Commission then considers other factors, including customer choice. In the present case, those factors properly include the location of existing facilities, the potential for industrial development, the \$4.5 million in funding for a Mount Hope extension project, and Mount Hope's annexation. No single factor is dispositive and the Commission considers the totality of the evidence to determine if one or both competing utilities have an obligation to serve new customers in an area. Clearly, when either utility, viewed on its own, would have an obligation to serve, and there is not a clear public interest factor favoring one utility over the other, the Commission decision to allow the new customer to choose the utility is a reasonable exercise of the Commission's responsibilities.

Similar to the case at hand, the Commission has determined an area to be gray and overlapping when two water utilities could provide service to an area in question. Jefferson Utilities, Inc., Case No. 22-0213-W-PC, Comm'n Order, Aug. 10, 2022. In this case, Charles Town Utility Board (hereinafter "CTUB") asserted that it owned and maintained a water distribution main on the property sought to be developed. Id. at 2. Jefferson Utilities, Inc. (hereinafter "JUI") argued that it has long provided service exclusively within the city of Ranson and the surrounding area and admitted that, while the property at issue is within CTUB's 20-mile service territory, JUI

did not believe CTUB had exclusive rights within that territory. JUI further argued that it now had a 16-inch main on the developer's property and believed that the development could be served by either CTUB or JUI, making it a gray and overlapping area. Id. at 2-3. In its Final Order, the Commission acknowledged that CTUB could have provided service to the area and JUI could also provide service to the area, making it a gray and overlapping area insofar as service areas of the two utilities were concerned. Id. at 3. This case demonstrates that the Commission has considered willingness and ability to serve when two utilities desire to serve the same area.

5. The Commission Correctly Found that the Site was in a Gray and Overlapping Territory Before and After Annexation, and Properly Regarded Annexation as a Relevant, but not Determinative, Factor in its Gray and Overlapping Analysis.

Petitioner argued, incorrectly, that the Site could not have been in gray and overlapping service area prior to annexation because Mount Hope would have been in violation of law if it extended its waterworks system more than one mile past its corporate limits. W. Va. Code § 8-12-19. The municipal corporation of Mount Hope operates both a water and sewer facility under W. Va. Code § 8-20-1a(c) which provides,

[n]otwithstanding the provisions of any other law or charter to the contrary, any such municipality may serve and supply the area included within twenty miles outside its corporate limits with either the water, sewer or stormwater services, any combination of such services or all such services, of its combined waterworks, sewerage and stormwater system; provided that such water, sewer or stormwater services and facilities shall not be served or supplied within the corporate limits of any municipality without the consent of the governing body of such municipality[.]⁷

We note that Petitioner did not question Mount Hope's authority to extend its waterworks system under Chapter 8 of the West Virginia Code when the case was pending below. Even if

⁷ W. Va. Code § 8-19-1 also authorizes a municipality to extend utility service outside its corporate limits as long as it does not serve or supply water facilities within the corporate limits of any other municipality or county commission without the consent of the governing body of such other municipality or county commission.

properly plead at this juncture, the argument is now moot because the Site is within Mount Hope's corporate limits.

After annexation of the Site, the Commission regarded the annexation as another relevant, but not solely determinative, factor for consideration in the territory dispute. In considering Mount Hope's Exceptions to the ALJ's Order of November 15, 2024, which concluded that the annexation did not impact the ruling that the Site was in BWC's exclusive territory, the Commission agreed that the annexation did not bring the Site into the exclusive territory of Mount Hope, but stated that the annexation was another appropriate factor for consideration in the question whether the Site is a gray and overlapping service area.

Considering the authority of a municipality to provide water utility service both within and outside its corporate limits, and the nearby operations and location of another water utility, BWC, the area in question could be gray and overlapping even if Mount Hope had not annexed the area into its corporate limits. With the annexation, there is further reason to conclude that the area in question may be gray and overlapping as to service areas of BWC and Mount Hope. Therefore, the Commission must determine whether the Site is in a gray and overlapping service area.

Comm'n Order, Feb. 20, 2025 at 7; CR at BN 93. The Petitioner further ignores the language in the Commission's April 16, 2025 Order clarifying that "the annexation was a factor to be considered in the analysis, but was not a determinative factor" and "annexation should not be a deciding factor in determining or enlarging a utility's service area." Comm'n Order, April 16, 2025 at 5; CR at BN 68. The Commission's treatment of annexation as a factor for consideration in the case was proper and correct.

6. The Commission Properly Applied the Isolation Test.

In Monongahela Power Co. v. Harrison Rural Electrification Assoc., Inc., Case No. 04-1062-E-C, and Harrison Rural Electrification Assoc., Inc. v. Monongahela Power Co., Case No. 04-1937-E-C, the Commission established an isolation test:

One simple way to look at disputes such as this one is to isolate each utility's (A's and B's) service territory as if the other utility did not exist. If we assume only utility A exists, and assume the service location in question requested service from utility A, would the Commission's *Rules and Regulations for the Government of Electric Utilities*, 150 C.S.R. 3, (*Electric Rules*) and relevant case law, require utility A to provide service? In the alternative, if only utility B existed, would the *Electric Rules* and relevant case law require utility B to serve if requested? If the answer to both questions is yes, then the service location is in a gray and overlapping service territory.

In the instant case, the Commission determined that, if it is assumed that only BWC is in existence, it would be required to provide service to the Site, if requested. Likewise, if it is assumed that only Mount Hope is in existence, it would be required to provide service to the Site, if requested. Therefore, the Commission concluded that the Site satisfied the isolation test making it a gray and overlapping service area. Comm'n Order Conclusion of Law 3, Feb. 20, 2025 at 11; CR at BN 97.

Petitioner argued that the Commission failed to consider the Commission's Rules for the Government of Water Utilities, 150 C.S.R. 7 (hereinafter "Water Rules") when performing the isolation test. Specifically, Petitioner attempts to connect the issue of overlapping service territories to Water Rule 7.5 pertaining to extension of facilities to serve new customers. Petitioner's argument is flawed because the isolation test is independent of the process and procedure for extending mains to serve new customers. Water Rule 7.5 governs extension of mains when potential new customers request an extension to provide new service, and the rule requires calculation of total expected future net revenues from the potential new customer in order to

determine cost sharing between the utility and the potential new customer. Water Rule 7.5 assumes, however, that a customer exists and is ready or will be ready in short order to take service.

Water Rule 7.5 is inapplicable to the circumstances presented in this case; namely, the Site is the subject of economic development and significant economic development funds have been devoted to pay for extension of water service to the Site. As a result, the amount of the future total net revenues that the utility will receive from a future customer, which is important to the application of Water Rule 7.5, is outside the scope of this case. Moreover, the mechanism, rules, and procedures for determining what new lines are required or how those lines will be financed have no bearing on this case. This case involves the issue of an area that is within the service territory of two water utilities. The Commission invoked an isolation analysis in this case to determine if each utility has an obligation to serve a new, unserved customer at the Site. The analysis established that BWC and Mount Hope have an overlapping obligation to provide water service.

Based on Mount Hope's representation to the Commission that it desires to provide service to the Site and has taken steps to do so, extension of its service is feasible. The evidence shows that there is \$4.5 million in funding, or zero-cost capital, allocated for Mount Hope to extend its lines into the Site. The Commission did not receive any evidence of cost predictions from Mount Hope or BWC. However, if the \$4.5 million in available funding covers the cost of the extension, the Water Rules regarding extensions will not apply. In the May 22, 2024 *Register-Herald* article,

[Belcher] said that the annexation allows Mount Hope to use public funding to extend its water infrastructure toward the site and make it more desirable for future development. Belcher said that the projected cost of Mount Hope's water line extension project is roughly \$4 million, which could be covered by state and federal funding as well as local funds for matching.

BWC Petition to Reopen, Exh. A, May 15, 2024; CR at BN 275-276.

The Commission's application of the isolation test was proper given the posture of this territorial dispute.

C. The Court Should Not Reinstate the May 9, 2024 Commission Order.

As an alternative argument, BWC argues that if the Court is inclined to conclude that the territory dispute is not ripe for a cessation order, then the Court should vacate the Commission's Order and reinstate the ALJ's April 19, 2024 Recommended Decision which became final on May 9, 2024. Vacating the Commission's Order and reinstating the ALJ's April 19, 2024 Recommended Decision (Final on May 9, 2024) would cause further delay in the potential development of the Site and affect the economic interests of the region and state. This Court should not reinstate the May 9, 2024 Commission Order. Instead, the Court should affirm the Commission's determination that the Site is in a gray and overlapping area which allows the future customer to choose its water service provider.

VI. CONCLUSION

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